FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
2/21/2019 4:18 PM

Supreme Court No. <u>9689</u>5-1 (COA No. 77021-7-I)

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MARVIN CASTRO-OSEGUERA

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

TIFFINIE MA Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711 tiffinie@washapp.org

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Marvin Castro-Oseguera asks this Court to review the opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Castro-Oseguera*, No. 77021-7-I. A copy of the opinion is attached as Appendix A.

B. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

Does a defense attorney have a duty to advise a non-citizen client regarding the impact of a criminal conviction on the client's ability to later seek discretionary relief from deportation?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Castro-Oseguera entered a guilty plea to one count of delivery of cocaine on January 28, 2010. RP 13. He had no prior criminal history. CP 7. On June 9, 2017, he moved to withdraw his plea based on ineffective assistance of counsel, citing his counsel's failure to properly advise him of the immigration consequences following conviction. RP 20; CP 40, 48.

At the hearing on the motion, trial counsel testified he was aware Mr. Castro-Oseguera was from Honduras and undocumented. RP 42. Counsel knew Mr. Castro-Oseguera's biggest concern was "whether or not he was going to be kicked out of the country." RP 55. However, he

did not recall asking, or include in his notes, how Mr. Castro-Oseguera entered the country or why he left Honduras. RP 42-43; Ex. 1. Counsel neglected to conduct any research on the immigration consequences of a delivery of cocaine charge for his client, and his notes did not reflect any discussion of such consequences. RP 58; CP Ex. 1. Nor did counsel inform Mr. Castro-Oseguera his conviction constituted an "aggravated felony" under immigration law. RP 58.

Counsel admitted he did not consulted an immigration attorney to discuss Mr. Castro-Oseguera's case. RP 59. Counsel also failed to discuss discretionary deportation relief options, including asylum, with his client. RP 61-62. Nevertheless, counsel advised Mr. Castro-Oseguera he would be deported without further clarification. RP 63. Specifically, when asked whether he told Mr. Castro-Oseguera "he would be deportable," counsel clarified, "I told him my legal opinion would be that he would be deported. I also told him that this is an offense that makes you deportable, and in my opinion you will be deported." RP 66. Counsel believed Mr. Castro-Oseguera "was clear on that," referring to counsel's opinion that deportation was certain. RP 80-81.

Following the hearing on Mr. Castro-Oseguera's motion to withdraw his plea, the court found defense counsel was not required to advise defendants of "the entire panoply of immigration law including the prospects of asylum if you are eligible for deportation." RP 103. The court further found counsel was not required to conduct additional research because "he clearly knew that a plea to this offense would result in deportation." RP 104. The court denied Mr. Castro-Oseguera's motion to withdraw his plea based on the ineffective assistance of counsel. CP 48.

On review, the Court of Appeals declined to reach issue of whether the duty to advise a client about immigration consequences of a conviction extends to advice regarding discretionary deportation relief measures such as asylum. Slip Op. at 16. Despite acknowledging this issue is one of first impression in Washington, and that other jurisdictions have reached different results, the Court of appeals resolved the issue solely on lack of prejudice. Slip Op. at 15-16.

D. ARGUMENT

This Court should accept review to determine whether a defense attorney's duty to advise a non-citizen client of the clear deportation consequences of a guilty plea or conviction extends to advice regarding discretionary relief from deportation measures.

1. An accused person has a constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel, including during plea negotiations and process.

Criminal defendants are entitled to the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22. *In re Pers. Restraint of Yung-Cheng Tsai*, 183 Wn.2d 91, 99, 351 P.3d 138 (2015). The right to effective assistance of counsel includes the plea process. *State v. Sandoval*, 171 Wn.2d 163, 169, 249 P.3d 1015 (2011) (citing *In re Pers. Restraint of Riley*, 122 Wn.2d 772, 780, 863 P.2d 554 (1993)); *McMann v. Richardson*, 397 U.S. 759, 771, 90 S. Ct. 1441, 25 L. Ed. 2d 763 (1970). Counsel's incompetent advice may render a defendant's guilty plea involuntary and unintelligent. *McMann*, 397 U.S. at 1449; *State v. A.N.J.*, 168 Wn.2d 91, 113-14, 225 P.3d 956 (2010) (holding defendant must be informed of direct plea consequences and may not be positively misinformed of collateral consequences).

2. Criminal defense attorneys must advise non-citizen clients of the clear immigration consequences of a conviction, including the impact of the conviction on a client's ability to seek discretionary deportation relief measures.

Immigration consequences fall within "the ambit of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel." *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 366, 130 S. Ct. 1473, 176 L. Ed. 2d 284 (2010); *Sandoval*, 171 Wn.2d at 170. This is because preserving a defendant's "right to remain in the United States may be more important to the client than any potential jail sentence." *Padilla*, 559 U.S. at 368 (citing *INS v. St. Cyr*, 533 U.S. 289, 322-23, 121 S. Ct. 227, 1150 L. Ed. 2d 347 (2001)). Effective assistance as applied to immigration consequences requires counsel to advise clients regarding the risk of deportation. *Padilla*, 559 U.S. at 366. Counsel is required to correctly advise, or seek consultation to correctly advise, a client of immigration consequences flowing from his guilty pleas. *Sandoval*, 171 Wn.2d at 172. Moreover, reasonable conduct for an attorney includes researching the relevant law. *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009).

The scope of counsel's duty to advise a defendant of immigration consequences depends on the clarity of the applicable immigration law. *Padilla*, 559 U.S. at 369; *Sandoval*, 171 Wn.2d at 170. Thus, if the applicable immigration law is "truly clear" that an

U.S. at 369; *Sandoval*, 171 Wn.2d at 170. At the very least, even where the immigration law is unclear, "competent counsel informs the defendant that deportation is at least possible, along with exclusion, ineligibility for citizenship, and any other adverse immigration consequences." *Sandoval*, 171 Wn.2d at 170 (emphasis added). Notably, a warning statement of immigration consequences contained in a plea form is not sufficient. *Yung-Cheng Tsai*, 183 Wn.2d at 101.

This duty further includes advising defendants of discretionary deportation relief measures, such as asylum, because preserving the possibility of discretionary relief would be "one of the principal benefits sought by defendants deciding whether to accept a plea offer or instead to proceed to trial." *Padilla*, 559 U.S. at 368 (citing *St. Cyr*, 533 U.S. at 322-23 (discussing discretionary relief under §212(c) of the 1952 INA, 66 Stat. 187, repealed by Congress in 1996)). Counsel who are unaware of discretionary deportation relief measures must inform themselves by following the advice of practice guides to advise themselves of the importance of such measures. *St. Cyr*, 533 U.S. at 323 n.50; *Padilla*, 559 U.S. at 368.

Other jurisdictions are in accord. For example, in *United States v*. *Nuwintore*, 696 F. App'x 178 (9th Cir. 2017) (unpublished)¹, trial counsel failed to advise Nuwintore he would be charged with removability and suffer the loss of his asylum status." *Id.* at 179. The Court found "the immigration consequences . . . were 'succinct, clear, and explicit." *Id.* (quoting *Padilla*, 559 U.S. at 368). The Court further held counsel had a duty to explain "that [Nuwintore] would lose his asylum status if he pleaded guilty." *Id.* at 180.

Similarly, in *Diaz v. State*, 896 N.W.2d 723 (Iowa 2017), the Iowa Supreme Court found "counsel has an obligation to inform his or her client of all the adverse immigration consequences that competent counsel would uncover. We do not believe clients expect their counsel to only advise them that the chances of deportation are certain or possible." *Id.* at 732. Likewise, in *Daramola v. State*, 294 Or. App. 455, 430 P.3d 201 (2018), the court found *Padilla* may require advice beyond removability alone but resolved the issue on other grounds. *Id.* at 467-68.

Relevant standards for defense attorneys also support proposition that defense attorneys must advise clients on immigration consequences

¹ Citied in accordance with GR 14.1 and FRAP 32.1.

beyond whether an offense renders a client deportable. The American Bar Association standards provide:

- (b) If defense counsel determines that a client may not be a United States citizen, counsel should investigate and identify particular immigration consequences that might follow possible criminal dispositions. Consultation or association with an immigration law expert or knowledgeable advocate is advisable in these circumstances. Public and appointed defenders should develop, or seek funding for, such immigration expertise within their offices.
- (c) After determining the client's immigration status and potential adverse consequences from the criminal proceedings, including removal, exclusion, bars to relief from removal, immigration detention, denial of citizenship, and adverse consequences to the client's immediate family, counsel should advise the client of all such potential consequences and determine with the client the best course of action for the client's interests and how to pursue it.

Am. Bar Ass'n, Standards for Criminal Justice for the Defense Function, std. 4-5.5 (4th ed. 2015).² This Court's Standards for Indigent Defense also mandate that criminal defense attorneys must "[b]e familiar with the consequences of a conviction or adjudication, including possible immigration consequences," and does not restrict that advice to removability alone. Standard 14.1(E).³ These standards

² Available at

https://www.americanbar.org/groups/criminal_justice/standards/DefenseFunctionFourthE dition/ (last visited Feb. 21, 2019).

³ Available at:

 $http://www.courts.wa.gov/court_rules/Word/supCrR3.1Standards.doc\ (last\ visited\ Feb.\ 21,\ 2019).$

support the proposition that competent immigration advice in a criminal setting is not limited to whether a particular offense renders a defendant deportable. Rather, an effective defense attorney must also address a non-citizen's ability to seek other forms of removal relief after suffering a conviction.

In contrast, other jurisdictions have found *Padilla* does not extend to advice regarding discretionary relief measures. *See*, *e.g.*, *United States v. Carillo-Estrada*, 564 F. App'x 385, 388 (10th Cir. 2014)) (*Padilla* says nothing about asylum); *Rosario v. State*, 165 So. 3d 672, 673 (Fla. 2015) (*Padilla* does not require advice about whether a plea will negatively impact discretionary removal relief or reentry).

In this case, the Court of Appeals acknowledged this issue was one of first impression in Washington and that other jurisdictions have reached different results. Slip Op. at 15. Nevertheless, the Court declined to address the issue.

This issue involves a significant question of law under the United States Constitution, and this Court should accept review to determine whether the Sixth Amendment right to effective counsel includes the right to be advised of the consequences of a conviction on a non-citizen's ability to seek discretionary relief from removal proceedings.

E. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, petitioner M.F. respectfully requests that this review be granted. RAP 13.4(b).