FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/22/2019 9:40 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96895-1

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

MARVIN CASTRO-OSEGUERA,

Petitioner.

## STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

ANN M. SUMMERS Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

#

## A. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

This Court should deny the petition for review because the Court of Appeals' conclusion that Castro-Oseguera failed to establish the prejudice prong of ineffective assistance of counsel is beyond dispute. However, if this Court accepts review, the State requests that the following issue also be reviewed:

Whether the State waived the claim that this collateral attack was time-barred pursuant to RCW 10.73.100(6) by consenting to an evidentiary hearing so that the facts necessary to determine the time bar could be established.

## B. <u>STANDARD FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW</u>

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b).

## C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

The facts of the case are fully set forth in the Court of
Appeals opinion affirming the trial court and the State's Brief of
Respondent filed in the Court of Appeals.

# D. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY FOUND THAT CASTRO-OSEGUERA FAILED TO ESTABLISH PREJUDICE, AND THUS THIS CASE DOES NOT PRESENT A SIGNIFICANT ISSUE OF LAW OR SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST.

Castro-Oseguera asks this Court to review the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals, which affirmed the trial court's denial of his untimely motion to withdraw his 2010 guilty plea based on ineffective assistance of counsel. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Castro-Oseguera failed to establish prejudice, regardless of whether counsel's performance was deficient, and thereby failed to establish ineffective assistance of counsel.

Whether or not deficient performance was shown, there can be little doubt that Castro-Oseguera failed to establish prejudice.

To establish his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in plea

negotiations, the defendant must establish that he would have rejected the offer to plead guilty if he had been advised differently regarding the risk of deportation. <u>Padilla v. Kentucky</u>, 559 U.S. 356, 372, 130 S. Ct. 1473, 176 L. Ed. 2d 284 (2010).

Castro-Oseguera failed to carry this burden. Critically, at the motion to withdraw the plea, defense counsel admitted that Castro-Oseguera was likely to be deported even if he was acquitted at trial, because he was undocumented and was already in an INS hold at the time. RP 90. Thus, there would have been no rational reason for Castro-Oseguera not to accept the plea offer and a favorable sentencing recommendation from the State, when even acquittal would not have prevented deportation. As the Court of Appeals concluded, "It is, thus, far from clear based on this record that had Castro-Oseguera learned his guilty plea would render him ineligible for asylum, his decision to plead guilty would have been different." Opinion, at 17. The failure to establish prejudice is fatal to the ineffective assistance of counsel claim. If the court decides that either prong of ineffective assistance of counsel has not been met, it need not address the other prong. In re Pers. Restraint of Cross,

<sup>1</sup> The State dismissed one of the two charges and agreed to recommend a lowend sentence in exchange for the plea of guilty to delivery. CP 6-7, 18.

180 Wn.2d 664, 693, 327 P.3d 660 (2014), <u>abrogated by State v.</u>

<u>Gregory</u>, 192 Wn.2d 1, 427 P.3d 621 (2018).

2. IF THIS COURT ACCEPTS REVIEW, IT SHOULD REVIEW WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE STATE WAIVED THE TIME BAR.

attacking a judgment and sentence may be filed more than one year after the judgment becomes final, if the judgment and sentence is valid on its face and was rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction. RCW 10.73.090(1). A judgment becomes final on the date that it is filed with the clerk of the trial court, or the date that an appellate court issues its mandate disposing of a timely direct appeal from the conviction, whichever is later. RCW 10.73.090(3). In the present case, the defendant's conviction became final in 2010, when the judgment and sentence was filed.

RCW 10.73.090 applies to motions filed in the trial court.

State v. Smith, 144 Wn. App. 860, 862, 184 P.3d 666 (2008). In fact, CrR 7.8(b) states that motions for relief from judgment are "subject to RCW 10.73.090, .100, .130 and .140." Also, RCW

10.73.090(2) explicitly defines "collateral attack" as including a motion to withdraw a guilty plea.

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are not within the exceptions to the time bar. In re Pers. Restraint of Adams, 178 Wn.2d 417, 426, 309 P.3d 451 (2013). However, RCW 10.73.100(6) provides an exception to the one-year time limit if there has been a "significant change in the law" that is material to the conviction or sentence being challenged. Padilla could be a significant change in the law, depending on what immigration advice a defendant received.<sup>2</sup> As this Court determined in In re Pers. Restraint of Tsai, 183 Wn.2d 91, 107-08, 351 P.3d 138 (2015), Padilla only changed Washington law if the defendant establishes through an evidentiary hearing that he received *no* advice regarding immigration consequences. If a defendant instead received *some* advice about immigration consequences, albeit incorrect or incomplete, Padilla is not a significant change, because Washington courts have long recognized that incorrect advice about immigration consequences could constitute ineffective assistance of counsel that would render a plea involuntary. Id.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  <u>Padilla</u> was issued on March 31, 2010, two months after Castro-Oseguera entered his plea in January of 2010.

Castro-Oseguera alleged that he had received no advice about immigration consequences. CP 41, 46-47; RP 22. Thus, a hearing was necessary. The trial court did not find his testimony credible. RP 102-03. The trial court found that Castro-Oseguera received advice about the deportation consequence of his plea. RP 102-03. Thus, Padilla is not a significant change in the law material to Castro-Oseguera's conviction pursuant to Tsai. But, this could not be determined without an evidentiary hearing. It makes no sense to hold, as the Court of Appeals did, that the State waives the time bar by not asking the court to transfer the motion to the Court of Appeals pursuant to CrR 7.8(c)(2). Transfer was not appropriate under the rule unless the motion was untimely, which could not be determined without an evidentiary hearing as to whether Castro-Oseguera received no advice (in which case his collateral attack would not be time-barred) or incorrect/ incomplete advice (in which case his collateral attack would be time-barred).

Once the trial court heard Huffman's testimony, found him credible, and rejected Castro-Oseguera's claim that he received *no* advice about immigration consequences of his plea, it was established that his collateral attack was time-barred pursuant to <a href="In re Tsai">In re Tsai</a>. The Court of Appeals' conclusion that the State waived

the time bar by consenting to an evidentiary hearing conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>In re Tsai</u>, and ignores the provisions of CrR 7.8 and RCW 10.73.090 and .100. If review is accepted, this issue should be reviewed as well.

## E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for review should be denied.

DATED this 22nd day of March, 2019.

Respectfully submitted,

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

ANN M. SUMMERS, WSBA #21509 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Attorneys for Respondent Office WSBA #91002

## KING COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE - APPELLATE UNIT

## March 22, 2019 - 9:40 AM

## **Transmittal Information**

Filed with Court: Supreme Court

**Appellate Court Case Number:** 96895-1

**Appellate Court Case Title:** State of Washington v. Marvin Castro-Oseguera

**Superior Court Case Number:** 09-1-07498-1

## The following documents have been uploaded:

968951\_Answer\_Reply\_20190322093908SC692653\_3981.pdf

This File Contains:

Answer/Reply - Answer to Petition for Review

The Original File Name was 96895-1 STATES ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW.pdf

## A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

tiffinie@washapp.org

• wapofficemail@washapp.org

#### **Comments:**

Sender Name: Bora Ly - Email: bora.ly@kingcounty.gov

Filing on Behalf of: Ann Marie Summers - Email: ann.summers@kingcounty.gov (Alternate Email: )

## Address:

King County Prosecutor's Office - Appellate Unit W554 King County Courthouse, 516 Third Avenue Seattle, WA, 98104

Phone: (206) 477-9499

Note: The Filing Id is 20190322093908SC692653